



Civil Justice Project: The Use of Time Limits and Notification in Civil Case Management

Courts Program
Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics





Statistics Canada Statistique Canada



Data in many forms

Statistics Canada disseminates data in a variety of forms. In addition to publications, both standard and special tabulations are offered. Data are available on the Internet, compact disc, diskette, computer printouts, microfiche and microfilm, and magnetic tape. Maps and other geographic reference materials are available for some types of data. Direct online access to aggregated information is possible through CANSIM, Statistics Canada's machine-readable database and retrieval system.

How to obtain more information

Inquiries about this product and related statistics or services should be directed to: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0T6 (Toll-Free 1-800-387-2231) (telephone: (613) 951-9023) (fax: (613) 951-6615) or to the Statistics Canada Regional Reference Centre in:

Halifax	(902) 426-5331	Regina	(306) 780-5405
Montréal	(514) 283-5725	Edmonton	(780) 495-3027
Ottawa	(613) 951-8116	Calgary	(403) 292-6717
Toronto	(416) 973-6586	Vancouver	(604) 666-3691
Winnipeg	(204) 983-4020		

You can also visit our World Wide Web site: http://www.statcan.ca

Toll-free access is provided for all users who reside outside the local dialing area of any of the Regional Reference Centres.

National enquiries line	1 800 263-1136
National telecommunications	
device for the hearing	
impaired	1 800 363-7629
Order-only line (Canada and	
United States)	1 800 267-6677
Fax order line (Canada and	
United States)	1 877 287-4369

Ordering/Subscription information

Catalogue no. 85-547-XIE, is available on Internet free.

This product is also available on paper through a Print-on-Demand service. The paper version can be ordered by mail, at Statistics Canada, Dissemination Division, Circulation Management, 120 Parkdale Avenue, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0T6; by phone, at (613) 951-7277 or 1 800 700-1033; by fax, at (613) 951-1584 or 1 800 889-9734; by Internet, atorder@statcan.ca; or in person, at local Statistics Canada offices. For changes of address, please provide both oldand new addresses.

Standards of service to the public

Statistics Canada is committed to serving its clients in a prompt, reliable and courteous manner and in the official language of their choice. To this end, the agency has developed standards of service which its employees observe in serving its clients. To obtain a copy of these service standards, please contact your nearest Statistics Canada Regional Reference Centre.



Statistics Canada Canadian Center for Justice Statistics

Civil Justice Project:

The Use of Time Limits and Formal Notification in Civil Case Management

Published by authority of the Minister responsible for Statistics Canada
© Minister of Industry, 1999
All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without prior written permission from Licence Services, Marketing Division, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1A 0T6.
August 1999
Catalogue no. 85-547-XIE
Frequency: Occasional
Ottawa

Note of appreciation

Canada owes the success of its statistical system to a long-standing partnership between Statistics Canada, the citizens of Canada, its businesses, governments and other institutions. Accurate and timely statistical information could not be produced without their continued co-operation and goodwill.

The Use Time Limits and Formal Notification in Civil Case Management			
Acknowledgement			
Many people assisted with the gathering of information, and in the preparation of t support are gratefully acknowledged. Thanks is also extended to all those who review report.	his report. Their time, effort and yed and provided feedback on the		
Statistics Canada – Catalogue No. 85-547-XIE	Canadian Centre for Justice Statisti		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	4
2.0 CASE MANAGEMENT AND TIME LIMITS BY REGION	6
2.1 Newfoundland	6
2.2 Prince Edward Island	7
2.3 Nova Scotia	8
2.4 New Brunswick	9
2.5 Quebec	10
2.6 Ontario	11
2.7 Manitoba	13
2.8 Saskatchewan	14
2.9 Alberta	14
2.10 British Columbia	16
2.11 Yukon	17
2.12 Northwest Territories	18
3.0 CONCLUSION	19
REFERENCES	19

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This document is an examination of the present use of two case management tools in the Canadian civil courts: time limits and formal notification requirements. Time limits refer to the established time periods outlined for the conclusion of critical steps in the litigation process. These address individual case movement in the court system. Formal notification requirements relate to an obligation by the parties to notify the court when an action has terminated. These requirements serve to inform overall case disposition irrespective of any target disposition dates that may be in effect.

Case management has been defined as a system that manages the timing and events of a lawsuit as it passes through the justice system, from the initiation of a case until it is resolved through withdrawal, settlement, trial or other disposition. Historically in Canada, case management has not been employed in the civil courts and case management has been limited. However, as the volume of civil filings has increased, some Canadian courts have begun to experience caseflow management problems. Consequently, the need to take active control of civil filings is now being acknowledged by court administrators in Canada.

Recently, most Canadian jurisdictions have expressed an interest and are pursuing different forms of case management as a means of controlling the progress of cases through the courts. Effective case management requires information about the movement of cases through the system. This type of caseflow information enables court administrators to manage the operation of their courts.

The formal notification of case termination is important in civil justice because so many cases are settled or abandoned. In this situation, court administrators have a great deal of difficulty in estimating the real magnitude of their inventory of unresolved cases. Lack of case closure information means that the disposition status remains unknown for a large part of a court's case inventory. Without a requirement for notification of case closure, court staff cannot calculate case attrition, elapsed times, delay, or pending case inventory on a significant sub-set of cases. The introduction of time limits and the requirements for formal court notification of case completion by parties or their counsel, therefore, can contribute to expeditious case processing.

Active case management in the civil court context can promote early settlement, decrease the number of trials, shorten trial time, and increase the court's ability to set early and firm trial dates. Case management, at its optimum, represents a fundamental shift in the control of litigation away from the parties into the hands of the court administration. This control can include enforcement - the right to secure conformity with rules of notification and time restrictions for various stages of civil case processing. In 1996, the Canadian Bar Association stressed the importance of enforcement stating: "One of the most significant difficulties is that the time requirements imposed by existing rules of procedure are often honoured more in the breach than in the observance. It was suggested to the Task Force by many that stricter enforcement by the courts and lawyers of existing procedural rules would go a long way to reducing delays" (*Report of the Task Force on Systems of Civil Justice*, 1996, p. 13).

The current study examines the situation in Canadian provinces and territories with respect to the existence and observance of time limits and formal notification requirements. This examination is timely because a number of jurisdictions are presently engaged in building or modifying automated case management systems. As well, many jurisdictions are re-examining case management in an attempt to increase the speed of case processing and lessen backlog in the courts.

This document includes a discussion of the following components of case management in each province/territory as they existed as of January 1998:

- 1) documentation of the extent to which:
 - a) case processing incorporates time limits as a guideline for case management;
 - b) whether or not enforcement mechanisms are in place; and
- 2) a discussion of:
 - a) the extent to which formal notification to the court of settlement or abandonment is required;
 - b) the kinds of requirements that have been established for enforcement; and
 - c) whether or not enforcement occurs on a regular basis.

2.0 CASE MANAGEMENT AND TIME LIMITS BY REGION

2.1 Newfoundland

In 1995, case management was introduced in the Newfoundland Superior Courts (Supreme Court and Unified Family Court) and includes ten milestones:

- 1) Filing Certificate of Readiness these are promptly reviewed by the Registrar or designate to ensure completeness.
- 2) Assessment of Certificates by Registrar within seven days of assessment, trial ready cases are placed on the pre-trial list, and the certificate filed and docketed. Non-trial ready cases are rejected and counsel is notified.
- 3) Alternative Filing this replaces steps 1) and 2) where parties cannot agree on a joint certificate or where the first filing is rejected.
- 4) Placement on Pre-trial List separate and distinct from the trial list, cases are placed in order of filing and the current list is published monthly.
- 5) Assigning Pre-trial Dates on the first of each month, the Registrar publishes a list setting down dates and times for the number of pre-trial conferences that can be accommodated for the month. Time allotted to each conference will determine the number of dates assigned and will be worked out by the pre-trial coordinator and the judge responsible for pre-trial that month.
- 6) Filing Pre-trial Briefs pre-trial briefs must be filed two days prior to the pre-trial conference.
- 7) Pre-trial Conference on some occasions, a record will be made of the proceedings.
- 8) Dispositions in addition to discussing the progress of the case, the pre-trial conference judge will have to make determinations surrounding the utility of holding a trial by jury, settlement conference, mini-trial, summary trial, expedited trial, and whether the case should be placed in the general trial list or fixed date list. The Registry must identify and implement all decisions coming out of a pre-trial conference.
- 9) Trial List System trial lists will be published on the first day of the month.
- 10) Consequences of Setting Down for Trial once on the trial list, as a general rule, parties may no longer engage in pre-trial activities.

Time limits are in place and relate to a requirement for Notification of Settlement once a Certificate of Readiness is filed or when the matter is placed on the Trial List by Order of the Court.

Rule 39.06 (*Rules of the Supreme Court, 1986*) states that: "If a proceeding is settled at or following a pre-trial conference, settlement conference, or mini-trial or at any time prior to trial, the parties shall file a Memorandum of Settlement containing

- (a) a statement that the matter has been settled;
- (b) a request to discontinue the proceeding;
- (c) the form of any consent orders required;
- (d) agreements, if any, as to costs."

These limits relate specifically to settlement of designated trial cases and are enforced by virtue of Rule 40.07(3) (Amendment) which states that: "If within thirty days of conclusion of a settlement conference or mini-trial or such longer time as all parties may agree in writing filed in the Registry, the parties have not filed a Memorandum of Settlement pursuant to Rule 39.06, the Registrar shall place the case on the General List without prejudice to the right of any party to apply for a fixed trial date."

More generally, Notification of Abandonment is required in Appeal Court.

Time limits prescribed by statute are in effect in Small Claims Court. A plaintiff has a ten day waiting period after filing a statement of claim and prior to filing a default judgment. The defendant has one year from the date of issue before filing an application to re-open a default judgment.

2.2 Prince Edward Island

Since 1990, case management has been in effect in Prince Edward Island for civil cases and contested matters in the Supreme Court – Trial Division. It is not in effect for Small Claims cases.

Case management in a civil case takes effect at the time a statement of defence is filed. A case management conference is conducted by telephone between counsel and the Deputy Registrar within a month of the date of filing of the defence. At this conference, deadlines are set for settlement (if one is possible) and if a settlement is not expected, deadlines are established for the exchange of affidavit of documents and discovery dates. Each counsel is asked if they anticipate any motions to be made before the Court and when they plan to make these motions. Time limits are usually set for bringing the motions forward.

Case management in family matters is triggered by the filing of an answer to a statement of claim or a petition for divorce. A Judge of the Supreme Court conducts case management conferences in family matters.

The *P.E.I. Rules of Court* state that an affidavit of documents is to be exchanged within ten days after the close of pleadings. At the time of the case management conference, typically the documents have not yet been exchanged. However, at this time counsel agree to time limits regarding the exchange of documents that are reasonable and that can be met. It can take several

months for documents to be obtained; for example, medical reports from out of province. For the most part, documents are exchanged within a month following the case management conference. There are no enforceable limits on discovery, but in most cases it is conducted within six months from the filing of the defence.

Case management conferences are conducted twice a month. There are no formal notification requirements as a part of case management, only a telephone call made by court staff to find out when a convenient time can be arranged between counsel.

Follow-up telephone calls are made, usually with the plaintiff's counsel, to confirm that there has been compliance with the dates agreed to during the case management conference. These telephone calls are triggered by a "bring forward" system. When discovery is completed, a pre-trial conference date is set. Sometimes there are several pre-trial conferences before a trial date is set.

For all court levels, there is a requirement in effect that litigants formally notify the court when they have settled or abandoned a case. This is enforced to the extent that if there is no activity on a case for one year, a status conference must take place. *P.E.I. Rules of Court* state that where a statement of defence has been filed and the action has not been placed on a trial list or terminated by any means within one year after the statement of defence has been filed, a status notice shall be served on the parties. Ninety days notice is given prior to a status hearing. Counsel are required to give their clients a copy of the notice. All parties are called in and held accountable for the delay. A conference date form is filled out and the parties are urged to settle. At the hearing, counsel for each party explains to a Supreme Court Judge why the case has not proceeded. If the file is progressing, the Court will direct new time deadlines for undertakings to be completed. A minimal number of cases are dismissed at status hearings.

Discretion is used in relation to certain types of cases; for example, a personal injury claim or other cases where expert reports etc. are required are not put on a list for a status hearing if the Court is assured that the case is progressing well.

2.3 Nova Scotia

On January 1, 1996, the caseflow management tracking system was initiated in the Supreme Court as a pilot project, and provides for the classification of files as fast track, standard, complex, or holding (Rule 68, *Halifax Civil Case Management Rules*). Generally, if a case has no contentious issues and is straightforward, the case is flagged as "fast track" (e.g., debt collection matters). If a case has slightly more complex legal issues or facts, it is deemed "standard" (e.g., tort/damages). And if a case has multiple litigants with a high number of legal issues, it is classified as "complex." If the plaintiff fails to select a track when the originating notice is filed, the action is placed on standard track (Rule 68.05(3)). There is opportunity for the plaintiff to change the track and for the defendant to dispute the track. "Holding" is a mechanism where a litigant, in order to meet the filing deadline for initiating an action, can file the Notice of Action but hold off serving notification to the defendant. This occurs in two types of situations: 1) injury claims in which the extent of the injury and therefore of the damages has

not yet been determined, and the action is filed within the statute of limitations but a holding action is implemented; and 2) claims that are started during a negotiating process – an action is filed but put on a holding track. Cases are in the holding track for six months; an extension of a further six months is not difficult to obtain on review.

The procedural steps attached to each track are laid out in accordance with prescribed time limits for completion. Changes to time limits are permitted, as requested by the parties or a supervising judge. Judicial powers for non-compliance include dismissing the action, striking the defence, or awarding costs (Rule 68.08 (c)). Under the rules, provision is made for a case management conference or a settlement conference to be held at any time. There is, however, no requirement for the parties to notify the court of an out-of-court settlement.

In the Fall of 1999, based on an evaluation being conducted currently, a decision will be made to formally implement case management for all civil actions (except family) initiated in the Nova Scotia Supreme Court. Under this system, filed applications will be tracked according to the precise nature of the initiated action. Review points in the progress of a case will include filing a defence, default judgment, settlement conference, discovery hearing, and trial. When time limits are not adhered to, the automated system will notify staff of the need for follow-up. Mechanisms for this will include providing specific prompts, collecting required information, or notifying parties that a case will not be treated as trial ready without further preparation. Formal notification will take the form of automated notification on the expiry of the time limit. There will be no onus on the parties to notify the court if a case is abandoned or settled. The court will monitor the progress of cases and, therefore, it is likely that notice will not be needed.

Generally, in the Supreme Court and the Family Court (except for caseflow management cases), parties must notify the court when a case has been settled or abandoned. There is a requirement that an order be taken out by the plaintiff if the case is discontinued, but there is no accompanying enforcement provision.

In Small Claims Court, the day of the action is the deadline for filing a response. If the defendant fails to appear on that day, the plaintiff is entitled to obtain a default order. The plaintiff is not required to appear to obtain an unenforceable default order, but must be present and make the claim in front of an adjudicator to get an enforceable order.

2.4 New Brunswick

There is no case management in effect in New Brunswick at this time, but provisions for time limits and formal notification are in effect in the Court of Queen's Bench (except Small Claims). They apply only in cases commenced by Notice of Action, not by application. The provisions are laid out in the *New Brunswick Rules of Court*. Rule 26.05 imposes certain time limits and applies one year after a Statement of Defence is filed. Time limits may also be imposed at a status hearing. The consequences of exceeding the time limits may vary according to the discretion of the status hearing judge.

The process does not always allow court staff to follow the procedures for enforcing time limits set down in Rule 26.05(8), which states that the court may:

- (a) order the action to be set down for trial within a specified time,
- (b) adjourn the status hearing to a fixed date, or
- (c) make such other order as may be just.

Rule 26.05(9) and (10) states that unless the action is set down for trial or terminated within the time so ordered, the Clerk shall dismiss the action for delay (with costs unless the court orders otherwise) and shall notify all parties of the dismissal.

Under Rule 47.12, parties setting down for trial an action in the Court of Queen's Bench are required to notify the court when they have settled a dispute. Enforcement of the formal notification provisions, either as a matter of process or through an attached sanction, is not in effect.

The *New Brunswick Small Claims Act*, establishing the Small Claims Court, came into effect on January 1, 1999. This Act includes provisions regarding time limits. Except where specifically provided, a small claim must be served within one year after the date of filing. After service, there are time limits of 30 days to file a statement of response, a counter-claim, a third party claim, or a request for a judgement. Depending on the nature of the small claim, the Clerk may enter a default judgement or set a date for an adjudicator to hear the claim.

2.5 Quebec

Quebec has had a stream lined case management system in place since January 1997, as well as a court proceedings management process developed in accordance with Section 766 of the Code de procédure civile (C.p.c.) added in 1994. These procedures are described below:

The simplified proceedings, made easier by the rules on time limits given to the parties (i.e. 90 days to file a defence and 180 days to set down for inquiry and hearing), allow for the monitoring of the process as a whole. The rate at which a case must follow its course within the system is established by law, and thus constitutes the rules of the case management system.

Section 766 C.p.c. also includes a proceedings management mechanism, which can be efficient in ensuring both case management and trial management. This provision allows the Court:

- to identify ways to simplify proceedings and shorten the hearing;
- to order, when appropriate, that the claim be disputed in writing and pursuant to the terms and conditions determined by the Court;
- to establish a procedure and time limits to serve affidavits and other exhibits;
- to make any order required to protect the rights of the parties;
- to schedule the hearing on the same day or to order that the claim be placed in the general trial list of motions.

The application of this provision in all judicial districts, where the Superior Court's ad hoc registrars are closely involved in the process, clearly shows the potential of the Superior Court. In their first trial before the Practice Court, these motions are directed to the ad hoc registrar. If they are not opposed and if they are ready to be heard, they are brought before the Court for a hearing on the same day, unless the ad hoc registrar, if he has jurisdiction in this matter, disposes of them immediately.

When a motion is opposed, the ad hoc registrar invites the parties to file for time limits regarding the process of the case or to come to an agreement in this matter. In more than half the cases, we can speak of "self-management", as long as counsels have already consulted one another and have agreed on an inventory of proceedings to be used, as well as specific time limits. Upon consideration, the ad hoc registrar ratifies the progression agreed upon by the parties. When this document has not yet been prepared, the parties request an adjournment and start writing it immediately. The parties then take the document to the ad hoc registrar for ratification. If the parties cannot come to an agreement, they are directed to the Court, which then determines the progression of the case. Once this is done, the motion is scheduled pro forma to a later date, pursuant to the proposed time lines, and eventually returns to the ad hoc registrar.

During this second appearance before the ad hoc registrar, the latter verifies whether the cases are ready to proceed. According to the information received, in the large majority of cases, the parties respected the process and the time limits ordered by the Court or ratified by the ad hoc registrar, who also examines the various elements that may affect the duration of the hearing. If the expected duration is under two hours, the case is transferred to the Court for immediate hearing. Otherwise, it is sent to the trial master, who schedules a hearing for a later date.

Using the information collected in several judicial districts, a similar application is done, mainly in Montréal's appeal division, again through ad hoc registrars. In Québec City's appeal division, judges ensure the application of this rule.

2.6 Ontario

Following a number of pilot projects, case management rules came into effect in phases over the past several years in various Ontario locations, such as Toronto in 1991 and Ottawa in 1997. The following provides a history and overview of Toronto Civil Case Management as one example of civil case management currently used in Ontario.

Case Management was implemented in Toronto in the fall of 1991 as a pilot project with its own rules for reducing unnecessary cost and delay in civil litigation. These rules facilitated early and fair settlement while bringing proceedings expeditiously to a just determination and allowing sufficient time for the conduct of the proceeding. Initially, 10% of all civil cases were randomly selected by the Registrar and were assigned to a specific judicial team (comprised now of 13 judges and 6 case management Masters) for the hearing of all interim motions, case conferences, settlement conferences and trials.

In February 1997, Rule 77 of the *Ontario Annual Practice* replaced the Toronto Case Management pilot project rules. Random selection was expanded to include 25% of all civil cases in Toronto, with the exception of simplified rules, family law, commercial list, estates, construction lien, bankruptcy and insolvency, or class proceedings matters. When a statement of claim is issued, a case management number is randomly assigned to 25% of civil cases. A notice of commencement is completed at the time of issuance and a copy is filed with the court. Counsel must select a track (standard or fast) on the notice of commencement having regard to the complexity of the issues and expense. Time standards are different depending on the track selected. Case management cases become case managed only after a defence or motion by a party adverse in interest is filed.

The notice of commencement and statement of claim are served on the defendants. Time for service and delivery of pleadings is the same in case managed and non-case managed actions, however, actual copies of pleadings are not filed with the court in case management proceedings unless they are being relied upon at a hearing (trial or motion) or unless they are requested by one of the parties (i.e. a notice of defence is filed with the court rather than a statement of defence). Rule 77 allows for the dismissal of an undefended action on either track if the plaintiff does not obtain final order or judgment within 180 days from the date of commencement of the action.

Rule 24.1 (Mandatory Mediation) also came into force on January 4, 1999. It requires counsel to select a mediator within 30 days of the filing of the first defence. The mediation must be held within 90 days of the filing of the defence. Fast track actions are required to have a settlement conference within 150 days of the first defence being filed. At the settlement conference, a trial date is set. Discoveries and any motions must be completed prior to the settlement conference. The plaintiff's settlement conference brief must be delivered no later than 10 days prior to the settlement conference. The defendant's settlement conference brief must be delivered no later than 5 days before the settlement conference. The trial record must be filed no later than 7 days before the trial date. In standard track cases, a trial scheduling court appearance is held 200 days after the first defence is filed. At trial scheduling court, a trial date and settlement conference date are set. The settlement conference must be held within 240 days of the first defence being filed and 6-8 weeks prior to the trial date.

Rule 77 confers authority on the Registrar to grant certain specified relief, unlike non-case managed cases where the authority to grant relief rests with the masters and judges. Appointments for case management motions must be pre-booked with the case management unit unlike non-case managed civil motions.

Rule 76 (Simplified Rules) has been amended to allow the Registrar to dismiss undefended simplified rules cases after 180 days from the date of issuance or to dismiss any defended simplified rules case not set down for trial or summary trial and where the action has not been disposed of by final order or judgment 150 days after the filing of the first defence. This amendment, which came into force January 4th, 1999, will effectively increase case management to approximately 43% of all civil cases in Toronto.

A steering committee comprised of members of the Judiciary, administration and the Bar has been struck by the Regional Senior Justice to discuss possible expansion of case management to 100% of all civil cases in Toronto in the year 2000. Discussions at this committee addressed Rules requirements, technology requirements, staffing requirements (including the addition of additional Case Management Masters), province-wide implications, Integrated Justice recommendations and other issues.

2.7 Manitoba

Currently, Manitoba has a case conferencing system in the Court of Queen's Bench, and the features are described in Rule 20A (Court of Queen's Bench Rules) regarding expedited actions. Considerations about the nature of the action, the amount at issue, the complexity of the issues involved, and the likely expense to the parties to pursue the action are involved in the judge's decision to expedite an action. At the close of pleadings, a case conference date is set to occur within 30 days. This forum is used for the judge to explore the possibility of settlement with the parties involved. At a case conference, the case conference judge may make an order he considers appropriate to ensure a just, expeditious, and cost-effective determination of the action including the fixing of time limits around the completion of various procedures. Should an adjournment of the first case conference occur pursuant to the Expedited Actions Rule 20A, the adjournment must be made through the Trial Coordinator to a fixed date within 120 days after the date of the close of the pleadings. If an adjournment date of more than 120 days is requested or if the parties do not consent to the 120 day adjournment, a first case conference date can be set more than 120 days from the close of pleadings, only if a case conference judge consents to it. Should more than one case conference occur, to the extent possible, it must be presided over by the same judge who presided over the first one. This is the case also with any motions heard during the life of the case.

A case management system came into effect in Manitoba in the fall of 1998. As well, an ongoing pilot project conducted in the Family Division since 1996, was completed in the summer of 1998.

Time limits apply to case conference actions only as ordered by the conference judge. The Court of Queen's Bench of Manitoba does not have time limits or require notification pursuant to its rules respecting settlement or abandonment of a case. The court views this as a matter of ethical responsibility on the part of counsel – to inform the court on a timely basis of the settlement or abandonment of a case.

The *Queen's Bench Rules* concerning Small Claims actions requires a defendant who intends to dispute a claim or request time for payment of a claim, to file a Notice of Intention to Appear no later than the seventh day before the date fixed for the hearing of the claim. The failure of a defendant to do so does not result in a default judgment where the defendant appears at the hearing; rather, the defendant is entitled to be heard.

2.8 Saskatchewan

Generally, Saskatchewan does not employ a case management system. A management judge may be appointed to a Queen's Bench action to ensure consistency in pre-trial rulings and to reduce the number of times a motions judge has to read a file and counsel has to explain the nature of the proceedings to a motions judge. Any case in the Court of Queen's Bench may have a case management judge assigned to it. In practice, the request is usually made for a matter where it is anticipated that there will be a significant number of pre-trial applications and/or that the issues involved will be complex and/or that the trial will be lengthy. The process is fairly informal and is done as a convenience to the judiciary, counsel, and the clients. The management judge does not set any schedule or time limits for the parties and is not responsible for ensuring adherence to any schedule.

Saskatchewan does not employ any time limits for Superior Court civil case processing. There are no requirements in Saskatchewan's civil procedure rules (*The Queen's Bench Rules of Saskatchewan*) requiring litigants to provide formal notification of settlement or abandonment unless the defendant makes a request that the plaintiff file a Memorandum of Satisfaction when the claim has been settled.

The rule relating to the Memorandum of Satisfaction is as follows:

"When a judgment has been satisfied, the judgment creditor shall, at the request of the judgment debtor, execute a consent to entry of satisfaction and the execution of such memorandum shall be verified by affidavit of the attesting witness."

When parties settle a proceeding prior to judgment, they will often file on the court file a document known as a Notice of Discontinuance, although they are not required by the Rules of Court to do so. Unless a pre-trial or trial had already been scheduled at the time the Notice of Discontinuance is filed, the judges would not be notified of its filing.

The initiating document for Small Claims actions in Saskatchewan is a summons which is returnable to a specific date and time. If the defendant does not appear on the return date, upon proof of service of the summons on the defendant, judgment may be granted against the defendant in the amount claimed by the plaintiff without the leading of any evidence by the plaintiff.

2.9 Alberta

Case management has been in place in the Court of Queen's Bench for civil matters since September 1, 1995. *Practice Note 7* describes the basic features of mandatory case management for trials likely to take 25 days of trial time:

1) Parties to very long trial actions will be required to advise the Chief Justice or Associate Chief Justice that such an action has commenced shortly after the close of proceedings so

that the court may determine when and whether it should be case managed pursuant to this Practice Note.

- 2) Each case will be governed by a timetable which may only be changed by an order of the case management judge.
- 3) Each case is assigned early in the proceedings to a case management judge who hears all aspects of the case down to the trial; that judge may raise matters on his or her own initiative to facilitate efficient pre-trial management and make resulting orders, after hearing from each party.
- 4) A trial start date will be established at the initial case management conference but the case will later be entered for trial and the scheduled duration of the trial set by the case management judge, after receiving disclosure of witness's evidence summaries and early disclosure of expert evidence.

For these cases, within two weeks from filing of the first Statement of Defence, counsel for the plaintiff shall write to the Chief Justice or the Associate Chief Justice of the Court of Queen's Bench to advise that a very long trial action has commenced, and to request the appointment of a case management judge to manage the action. The judge shall hold a case management conference within 30 days of being assigned during which a determination will be made as to which portions of the Practice Note will apply to the management of the action. Also within 30 days of assignment of a case management judge, the plaintiff's counsel will contact the judge and all counsel to arrange a scheduling conference, the purpose of which is to determine a coherent plan to process the action in a timely and reasonable fashion (a case timetable), and to deal with any matters of a procedural nature which should be addressed at an early stage.

For regular Court of Queen's Bench cases, there are no time limits at any stage of civil case processing, which when exceeded would formally remove the case from the court's active pending inventory. Regarding formal notification by litigants when they have settled or abandoned a case, if a Court of Queen's Bench civil matter is set down for trial, and the matter is settled prior to the trial hearing, formal notification is required. However, if the matter has not been set down for trial, under the rules, notification is not required if the matter is settled. With respect to enforcement, Rule 225(5) allows for an action to be discontinued, with consent of all parties, without leave of the court at any time before trial by filing with the clerk a written consent to the action being discontinued that is signed by all parties.

Without consent, they are bound by Rule 225(3) which requires leave of the court to discontinue. As the discontinuance is filed with the Clerk's office, it has also become the practice and a requirement for the filing party to phone the Civil Trial Coordinator and advise of settlement, and follow-up correspondence as confirmation is requested.

Practice Note 3 came into effect April 1, 1998. It directs that for civil matters in the Court of Queen's Bench, a pre-trial conference is required for any trial set for 3 days or longer duration, and for all matters to be tried by civil jury or if directed by the Rules of Court or Order of the Court. Compliance with these directions is necessary to obtain or retain trial dates.

Time limits are in place in Provincial Court civil cases; this includes Family Court and Small Claims Court (Civil Claims Court) matters. If the defendant does not satisfy a claim or file a Dispute Note within 20 days after being served with a civil claim, in certain cases judgment can be obtained against the defendant without a hearing, at which time a Certificate of Judgment is mailed to all parties. For example, if the civil suit specifies an amount agreed to in a contract, a request can be made to the Clerk to enter judgment against the defendant. Upon request and proof of service of the initiated action and Dispute Note on the defendant, the Clerk will enter a default judgment and mail a Certificate of Judgment to all parties. These time limits are enforceable and are strictly enforced.

If the defendant does not pay the plaintiff's claim or file a Dispute Note within 20 days after being served with a Civil Claim, in certain cases, the plaintiff can obtain Judgment against the defendant without having a hearing. For example, if the plaintiff is suing for an amount agreed to in a contract, the plaintiff can ask the Clerk to enter Judgment against the defendant. Upon the plaintiff's request and proof of service of the Civil Claim and Dispute Note on the defendant, the Clerk will enter a Default Judgment and mail a Certificate of Judgment to all parties. It is the plaintiff's responsibility to contact the Clerk in writing to request Judgment.

2.10 British Columbia

British Columbia does not employ a true case management system at this time. There are, however, a number of piloted initiatives in place that will shape future case management programs, should their effectiveness be established. Some of these are currently being evaluated.

Throughout the province, a semi-mandatory mediation project for motor vehicle cases is being piloted and evaluated in the Supreme Court. This project provides that one party can file a Notice to Mediate on the other. A professional mediator is jointly chosen, and although a judge must verify if the parties do not settle at mediation, case progress is party driven.

There is also a "fast track" program being tested in the Supreme Court whereby trial cases that are expected to last for two days or less are scheduled to be heard within four months. Parties have to satisfy certain criteria to get on this track: timely disclosure of documents, restrictions on length of discovery, filing of a trial agenda, and limits on litigant costs.

The British Columbia piloted initiatives mentioned above employ an individual assignment system. In this way, judges in a multi-judge court operate independently in managing caseload, become familiar with each case, have responsibility for dispositions, and can be held accountable for the size and age of their pending caseload. Within the initiatives, there are no specific provisions that force litigants to notify the court when a case has been settled or abandoned.

In Small Claims Court, settlement conferences have been invoked province-wide for several years as a way of moving cases forward. Mandatory mediation (either court appointed or private) is operating as a pilot project in Small Claims Court in two locations in British Columbia – Robson Square and Surrey, in relation to construction lien certificates.

Replies to filings in Small Claims must be filed within 14 clear days or claimant may request a default hearing and obtain a default judgment.

Other than in the Court of Appeal, time limits are not employed for civil matters. However, in the Supreme Court, formal notification is required when a case has been settled or abandoned. Since there is no strict enforcement around this requirement, it is difficult to produce reliable information on civil case attrition, pending case inventory, and backlog. In Family Court, mandatory mediation and judicial case conferencing is currently employed for child apprehension cases. In custody, access, and support cases that are dealt with under the *Family Relations Act*, a "triage" process is being piloted whereby parties (with certain exclusions) are seen by family justice counsellors and sent for mediation/education programs prior to being allowed to pursue their disputes in court. As well, judges run case conferences and may refer cases back to Family Court for mediation. Litigants who reach a settlement outside of court are not required to notify the court.

2.11 Yukon

Yukon does not employ a case management system. However, in the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeal, enforced time limits apply to trial dates once they are set down on the trial calendar. If there is non-compliance, parties lose their trial date. However, they are not barred from receiving a subsequent trial date. Notification that a case has been settled is required only for cases that have been placed on the trial list. Other litigants are not required to notify the court in the event of settlement or abandonment.

Time limits that apply to filing times can be extended at the discretion of the Trial Coordinator.

The requirement for notification of settlement for trial cases is enforced through the following mechanism: if counsel fails to advise the Trial Coordinator of settlement, they are required to appear before the court on the date scheduled.

The ability of the court to assign firm trial dates is enhanced somewhat by the time limits and formal notification requirements as they apply to trial cases. Time limits that apply to filing times can be extended at the discretion of the Trial Coordinator, and apply to the following documents: Notice of Trial must be filed within two weeks of request for court time, Proof of Completion of Examinations for Discovery must be filed within 60 days of a trial date, and Trial Record and Trial Certificate must be filed within 14 days of a trial date (*British Columbia Supreme Court Rules*, 1990).

Time limits are in effect in Small Claims Court. They relate to filing a response within a specified period of time, and are enforceable by the entering of a default judgment. A defendant who wishes to reply to a claim may file a reply within 20 days of service of the claim. If there is no default judgment on file, the reply may be filed, even after the 20 or 30 days have passed. Where the defendant fails to file a reply with the clerk of the court within the prescribed time, the clerk may, on request of the plaintiff and upon proof that the claim was served, sign a default judgment (*Small Claims Court Regulations*, 1995).

2.12 Northwest Territories

Since April 1, 1996, under Rule 281 (*Supreme Court Rules*), case management conferences are presided over by a judge (not the judge who will hear the case) on the court's initiative or on application. A conference can be called at any stage to assist in disposing of the case and managing pre-trial issues. A conference judge can set a schedule, direct a mini-trial, order the preparation of briefs, etc. There are no rules governing time limits, which are set at the discretion of the conference judge. There are no notification requirements in the event of a settlement or abandonment in case managed or non-managed cases.

There is a "5 year failure to take the next step" rule. A party may at any time apply to the Court, where for 5 years or more no step has been taken that materially advances an action or proceeding, for a determination that there has been a delay on the part of another party. The Court, at this point, can dismiss the action or proceeding as it relates to the applicant (Rule 327(b)).

Regarding Small Claims, Territorial Civil Claims Rules direct that:

- "11(1) A defendant who wishes to dispute a claim is required to file with the Clerk of the Court within 25 days of service of the claim served upon him;
- 16 Where a defendant fails to file a defence within 25 days of service, the Clerk may, upon proof of filing that the claim was served, note the default of the defendant;
- 17(a) On noting of default, the Clerk may enter a default judgment against the defendant."

3.0 CONCLUSION

Different forms of case management are being pursued in most Canadian jurisdictions as a means of gaining more active control of case processing in the civil courts. As a result, early judicial intervention, dispute resolution, time limits, and enforcement mechanisms are beginning to emerge as useful case management tools.

It appears that time limits are still more commonplace than enforceable sanctions. In 1996 in its *Report of the Task Force on Systems of Civil Justice*, the Canadian Bar Association stressed the importance of setting time limits for various stages in an action. The report states: "[Time] limits should also be incorporated in the rules of court, enforced by the court and subject to sanctions for non-compliance" (p. 38).

Requirements for serving and filing documents within the specified time periods direct the civil litigation process. Now, the notion of enforcing time limits that address the overall disposition of cases is beginning to take hold. Less frequently used is a requirement for formal notification when a non-trial case has been settled or abandoned. The kind of close monitoring that case management can provide probably replaces this requirement in some instances. In any event, knowing when a file is closed will be facilitated by computerized systems that are structured to enhance the management of cases from filing to final disposition.

While individual jurisdictions currently test a variety of management tools on different case types, the value of active court control of civil filings is being established. It is reasonable to expect that this expansion of the use of case management tools will contribute to a better understanding of case inventory, backlog, and court workload.

REFERENCES

- Alberta Rules of Court. Stevenson, W.A. and J.E. Cote. Alberta Civil Procedure Handbook 1999. Edmonton, Alberta: Juriliber, 1998.
- British Columbia Supreme Court Rules (B.C. Reg. 221/90). British Columbia: Crown Publications Inc., 1990.
- Canadian Bar Association. Report of the Task Force on Systems of Civil Justice. Toronto, Ontario: CBA, 1996.
- Civil Case Management, Rules of Civil Procedure in Carthy, James J. Ontario Annual Practice 1997-98. Aurora, Ontario: Canada Law Book, 1997.
- Family Relations Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c.128.
- Halifax Civil Case Management Rules. Nova Scotia Supreme Court Rules. Markham, Ontario: Butterworths, 1997.

- Manitoba Queen's Bench Rules 1997. Scarborough, Ontario: Carswell, 1997.
- P.E.I. Rules of Court. Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island: Queen's Printer, 1996.
- Queen's Bench Rules of Saskatchewan in McKeague, N.R. and W.M.B. Voroney. Queen's Bench Rules of Saskatchewan Annotated. Regina, Saskatchewan: Law Society of Saskatchewan, 1998.
- Rule 77, Civil Case Management in Rules of Civil Procedure in Carthy, James J. et al. Ontario Annual Practice 1997-98. Aurora, Ontario: Canada Law Book, 1997.
- Rules in Territorial Civil Claims of the Northwest Territories. Yellowknife, Northwest Territories: Department of Justice, 1996.
- Rules of Court of New Brunswick. Fredericton, New Brunswick: Government Printer, 1999.
- Rules of the Supreme Court of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland: Queen's Printer, 1986.
- Rules of the Supreme Court of the Northwest Territories. Yellowknife, Northwest Territories: Department of Justice, 1996.
- Small Claims Court Regulations, OIC 1995/52 (pursuant to the Small Claims Court Act, RSY 1986 c. 160).